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1

SUPREME COURT CASE NO.  83216                CASE NO. CR20-0092

DEPARTMENT I

FIFTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF NYE 

BEFORE THE HONORABLE DISTRICT COURT JUDGE 

KIMBERLY WANKER 

 -o0o-

THE STATE OF NEVADA,           

                   PLAINTIFF,

-vs-

MARCO ANTONIO TORRES,

                   DEFENDANT.

________________________________________/

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS

MOTION TO DISMISS/WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS

JANUARY 27, 2021

COURTHOUSE

PAHRUMP, NEVADA

REPORTED BY:                    SUZANNE KUES ROWE

                            Nevada CCR #127 
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2

APPEARANCES

FOR THE STATE OF NEVADA:       MICHAEL ALLMON

                               DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY

                               1520 EAST BASIN AVE #107 

                               PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89049 

FOR THE DEFENSE:                DANIEL MARTINEZ

                                ATTORNEY AT LAW 

                                PAHRUMP, NEVADA 89049

FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF  NOT PRESENT

PAROLE AND PROBATION:
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3

THURSDAY, JANUARY 27, 2021, PAHRUMP, NEVADA, 1:55 P.M.

-oOo- 

THE COURT:  I think the jail is trying to get 

Mr. Torres connected.  That's my understanding.

MR. MARTINEZ:  Okay.

THE COURT:  So, is the DA's office getting back to 

having people come to work?  I'm curious.  I know they were out 

for quarantine, but I thought people would have returned to work. 

MR. ALLMON:  We're on a skeleton crew.  Maybe three or 

four of us at a time.

THE COURT:  Sure.  Probably when you talk, we may make 

you to take your mask off.  

I will tell you this, that my new fandangled battery 

powered thousand dollar disinfector, the machine is supposed to 

be here Friday, and Monday my disinfectant is supposed to be 

here, and if it's good, I'm getting another one.  And I'm taking 

it to the courthouse in Goldfield, and in Tonopah, and using it 

here.  

The drug court bought this one, because we are the ones 

who really need it.  But, I'm going to see how it works, so that 

any time anybody gets up, it looks like a Wagner power painter.  

We had court in here this morning.  I have had so much 

court this week, and Zona was disinfecting the seats out there 

and everything, you know, from yesterday.  And we can't believe 

00683



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

 SUZANNE ROWE REPORTING (775) 782-5278

 

4

how dirty the seats are.  

You know, the cleaning crew isn't hired to clean, they 

are hired to empty the trash, in all fairness.  

So, we have just sort of taken it upon ourselves to be 

sure that we keep everything clean.

All right.  Just so you know, Suzy, the Deputy District 

Attorney that's present is Mike Allmon, A L L M O N, and on 

behalf of the defense is Ronni Boskovich and Daniel Martinez.  

And we are still waiting.  And our clerk today is 

Juanita Torres.  I was going to call you Caldwell.  Now we're 

just waiting, I guess, for the defendant to link in.  

Good afternoon, Mr. Torres.  How are you?  

THE DEFENDANT:  Good afternoon, Your Honor.  I'm okay.  

Thank you.

THE COURT:  We are here on Case Number CR20-0092, State 

of Nevada versus Marco Antonio Torres.  

Mr. Torres, is present.  In the courtroom, I have 

Deputy District Attorney Michael Allmon on behalf of the state, 

and I have your attorneys, attorney Ronni Boskovich and attorney 

Daniel Martinez.  They're sitting at defense counsel table in my 

courtroom, and the other folks in my courtroom are my court 

staff.  

So, I just kind of wanted to let you know who was here.  

Now, if at any time you need to speak with your 
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5

attorneys, you need to let me know.  Because if you need to talk 

to them privately, the rest of us will leave, and we will shut 

off the recording equipment so that you can have a private 

conversation with your attorneys.

THE DEFENDANT:  Okay.

THE COURT:  The other thing for Counsel, because our 

court reporter is gracious enough to cover this for us and is, 

obviously, not in the courtroom, two things are important:  

One, you can sit while making your argument, and move 

the microphone close.  The other thing is, don't rustle your 

papers, because that's what she hears through the microphone.  

And don't speak too quickly, because there's a little delay for 

her to get the transmission.  

So, with that, I was going to say, we are here on two 

different things today.  One is a Motion to Dismiss.  The second 

is a Writ of Habeas Corpus.  

I have looked at the Motion to Dismiss, the Response to 

the Motion to Dismiss, and I believe there was a, I don't know if 

there was a reply or not.  

I've also looked at the Writ of Habeas Corpus and the 

response to the Writ of Habeas Corpus.  And just so that I was up 

to speed, I reread the transcript of the entire preliminary 

hearing this morning.  I got up at 4:30 to be fresh to make sure 

I had read that.  
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So, with that, this is the defense's motion.  So, 

defense, I'm going to let you take the lead.  

MR. MARTINEZ:  Natural reaction to stand, Judge.  But, 

I will stay sitting to make sure I am talking into the 

microphone.  

Your Honor, I know the Court always prepares, as Your 

Honor did today, you read all the pleadings.  I did file a reply 

to the state's opposition, that I'm sure Your Honor did read.  

I know Your Honor also always pulls all the cases to 

review those cases, so I'm not going to belabor or repeat what's 

in all my pleadings, because I don't think that's necessary.  

Essentially, where we're at here, Judge, there's no 

doubt that entry was made into the Industry address in this case 

without a warrant.  

So, that needs to fall into a certain exception.  The 

only exception that may apply in this case that I don't believe 

any exception applies, but the only one that the state is arguing 

applies, is an exigency circumstance to provide aid to someone 

who may be injured on the inside.  

In all of the cases that I cited, Your Honor, when the 

courts have found that warrantless entry was reasonable, law 

enforcement, the state has been able to point to specific facts 

in every single case to be able to say this is why we knew 

somebody was injured, someone needed assistance, and we needed to 
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take immediate and swift action to go into the house, that we 

didn't have time to wait around and assess the situation, because 

somebody may have gotten shot or died.  

In the Brigham City case, the police actually saw the 

fight happen.  In the Alanyon case, police received a report that 

a man had stabbed himself.  In the Dixon case, the police 

responded to a domestic dispute, and they noticed signs of 

forcible entry, and there was blood splattered on the floor.  

There is no specific facts like that in this case.  The 

testimony that we have on the record, the facts that we have on 

the record, the police responded to a 911 disconnect.  

From what we have thus far, that's all they knew.  What 

Deputy Gideon testified to at the preliminary hearing is that 

when they appeared, they responded to the address to the 911 

disconnect, and at that point it became a welfare check.  They 

had no indication that anybody was hurt or in need of any sort of 

assistance on the inside.  The only sound they heard when they 

arrived was the footsteps of somebody walking.  

They didn't hear screaming, they didn't hear fighting, 

they didn't hear commotion, and they certainly didn't see any of 

those things.  

The standard that we are working with here, Your Honor, 

is one of a reasonable person.  If a reasonable person believed 

that it was necessary for law enforcement to make immediate entry 
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8

into the house, in order to render assistance.  

And there's no reasonably objective basis for that in 

this case, Judge.  The arguments that I have made in my pleadings 

is that we hold law enforcement to a more than reasonable 

standard, I would say.  A reasonable person, I have always 

interpreted to be the common people walking around the street, 

every day and a layperson.  What would they think if they were in 

a similar situation, or how would they react?  And we hold law 

enforcement to a higher standard.  

We can look at law enforcement's action in this case, 

that the exigency did not exist, and they did not need to take 

immediate action, because they were able to wait around.  

The first two deputies who appeared on the scene, they 

didn't immediately go in and say, we need to help somebody right 

now.  They called for backup.  They waited for a supervisor, they 

called for a locksmith.  They waited an hour-and-a-half before 

they finally made entry into the home.  

If they believed somebody was in need of assistance, 

they would have gone into the home.  They would have broken a 

window, would have kicked a door down as has happened in other 

cases, Judge, that would have made a forcible entry, (inaudible) 

to go in and to help them out.  

We also noted there were two other neighbors that heard 

commotion prior to the police arriving.  Two other reasonable 

00688



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

 SUZANNE ROWE REPORTING (775) 782-5278

 

9

people.  They heard the commotion and neither of them were 

worried enough, to say somebody, let's call 911 and let's call 

the police.  They didn't call the police at all.  The only 

contact they had with the police was after the police arrived on 

the scene.  

The state, in their opposition, mentioned that 

essentially inevitable discovery is what they argue at one point.  

And I don't think that that applies at all here.  

The inevitable discovery that the state cites to in all 

of their cases are situations where police had legally obtained 

evidence, and then made warrantless entry into the house.  

So, outside of the warrantless entry, they had enough 

evidence for probable cause to get a search warrant.  So, they 

were going to be able to get into the house no matter what.  That 

doesn't apply here.  Everything that is in Detective Fancher's 

search warrant, he attained all of that information after the 

illegal entry. 

So, my argument is that all of the information in his 

affidavit and support of search warrant is illegal evidence.  It 

was unlawfully obtained, because they violated Mr. Torres's 

Fourth Amendment rights when the police made entry into the 

house.  

At the very least, Judge, I believe what the Court 

needs is to order an evidentiary hearing so we can get more of 
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the deputies here, get more of the law enforcement here, so they 

can testify as to what they knew when they were at the house, the 

state spent a lot of time saying we know Jonathan Piper called 

911.  

We know that he said he needed help on that 911 call.  

Ultimately, we know that he was deceased.  The law enforcement 

deputies who arrived on the scene did not know any of that.  The 

testimony we had is just, they knew there was a 911 disconnect 

that turned into a welfare check.  That is it.  They did not know 

how many people were on the cellphone, they don't know what was 

said on the 911 call.  They know none of that, so that shouldn't 

be taken into account when we are trying to determine whether or 

not they made lawful entry into the house.  

The state's essentially arguing here for an end 

justifies the means law, where so long as the police go in and 

they find evidence of a crime, or they find that somebody was 

hurt, or somebody was deceased, that's all you need is that the 

end justifies the means.  Somebody was hurt, somebody was 

deceased, so that necessarily means that there was exigent 

circumstances.  

They need to show the exigent circumstances first 

before the police can make entry in the house.  They can't do 

that in this case.  That's why I'm asking the Court to dismiss 

it.
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THE COURT:  Okay.  I have this question for you.  

Normally, it wouldn't come up as a Motion to Dismiss, it would 

come as a Motion to Suppress evidence.  

So, I understand your argument, I mean I understand 

what you're saying is you're saying that this really isn't an 

exigent circumstance, or it's not an emergency.  I think that 

there are probably about ten exceptions to the warrant 

requirement, two of which, in my mind, came to the forefront 

would be are there exigent circumstances, or is there an 

emergency aid doctrine.  

And one can argue that maybe those are subsumed in the 

same type of thing, but I think they are a little different.  

But, nonetheless, and the reason I wanted to go back 

and read the preliminary hearing transcripts, I read it before, 

but I couldn't remember what the, who the deputies were, and what 

had happened between the time of the 911 call and the deputies 

had arrived there.  

But, I'm not sure that maybe it shouldn't be a motion 

to suppress, and maybe there shouldn't be more detail about what 

the Court should suppress, other than just the general Motion to 

Dismiss.  

MR. MARTINEZ:  Well, Judge, my stance is with the 

unlawful entry, all of the evidence should be suppressed, because 

it's all fruit of the poisonous tree.  So, if we suppress all the 
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evidence, the case gets dismissed.  

So, if you want more specifics about what they found, I 

can certainly brief that to Your Honor.  But, my stance is, all 

the evidence in this case happened after the unlawful entry.  So, 

all of it needs to be suppressed, save for maybe the 911 call.  

So, if the state wants to proceed only on the 911 call at trial, 

sure.  They're free to do that.

THE COURT:  What about the fact that they may have had 

probable cause to detain Mr. Torres, and then read him his 

Miranda Rights, and he essentially, allegedly, I will say that, 

because obviously the facts are disputed now, that he allegedly 

confessed to this crime?  

MR. MARTINEZ:  Well, I don't believe, prior to the 

entry, Judge, I don't believe they had any probable cause to 

detain Mr. Torres.

THE COURT:  Well, he stuck his head out the window and 

said, "I'm Bozo the Clown."  That would seem to be odd after you 

had a 911 hang-up.  I'm just playing devil's advocate. 

MR. MARTINEZ:  I understand, Judge.  My stance would 

be, sticking your head out the window and saying, "I'm Bozo the 

Clown," isn't probable cause for them to detain him at that 

point.  That's first of all.  

Second of all, I understand Miranda was read to him.  

He wasn't interviewed, and all of that didn't happen until much 
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later on in the morning.  

And I will tell you what else is on calendar today, is 

I filed another Motion to Continue, and I'm sure that we will 

address that.  One of my experts is working on a psychological 

work-up of Mr. Torres, and there will be a Motion to Suppress 

Mr. Torres's statements coming in as well.  

I have listened to the entirety of that more than 

three-hour interview multiple times.  And one of the things that 

Mr. Torres says in that interview at about the halfway mark, he 

says, "What do you mean, I waived my rights?  I didn't waive my 

rights.  I don't understand what you're talking about here."

Which was a major red flag for me.

Those are some of the issues I will be asking to 

suppress that later on as well, Judge.

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Well, let me hear from 

Mr. Allmon.  Sit down, just don't move your papers, so that my 

court reporter can hear.

MR. ALLMON:  It's such habit.  

All right.  I got to move them to again.  So, a few 

things that are important here.  It's important to look at the 

totality of the circumstances always.  

Fourth Amendment always considers the totality of the 

circumstances.  Where Mr. Martinez seemed to get a few zingers in 

on his motion, it always fails to neglect the totality.  You 
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know, they heard the rustling, and nothing more.  

Well, no, that's not true, because the totality is they 

heard a 911 call.  The deputies talked to someone.  The person 

said, "We are all okay in here.  My roommate and I are sleeping."  

So, it's the totality always. 

So, there's two issues here, two separate issues.  The 

first is the emergency aid exception.  The emergency aid 

exception is completely detached from probable cause.  

There is no probable cause for an emergency exception.  

A person cannot get, a law enforcement officer could not get a 

warrant to execute an emergency aid exception entry.  

It just does not exist.  The two are completely 

detached from each other.  

So, law enforcement is left on its own to make a 

determination in the field whether or not the emergency aid 

exception applies.  

And we have clear rules for a reason.  I believe this 

is that.  This is Fisher, and then some.  

So, that's the first part of this.  The second thing 

is, if you look at it and you find for some reason you find that 

there is no emergency exception, which, again, I would argue that 

there is, then you look at PC.  

And in a probable cause determination, the Court is to 

consider all that law enforcement knew at time, even if that's 
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not in their search warrant.  

And that's Devenpeck v. Alford.  

And so you would look at the totality, you would look 

at the search warrant itself, you would strike out the 

information, that was obtained post entry, if the Court finds 

that it's not an emergency exception.  

And then from there, you would also allow evidence that 

the law enforcement knew at the time, but may not have cited.  

And the reason for that is, sometimes when they assume 

that evidence is going to be admissible, they state enough for 

PC, and the judge grants it, that's enough.  They might have more 

evidence that didn't make it into the warrant, or perhaps the 

prosecutor would look at it and say, well, that should have been 

included in the warrant, and law enforcement knew that at the 

time.  

One thing, when we are determining whether or not 

there's an objectively reasonable basis for entry, it's a need 

for swift action.  And this is -- defense and I go back and forth 

about this in the motions.  But in defense's response, or reply 

to me or rebuttal, defense says if they wait for a SWAT team, 

that is sufficient grounds.  But, not a locksmith.  And there's 

distinguishing reason for that.  If law enforcement could wait 

for a SWAT team, and that still means that there's an emergency 

aid, then it makes no sense that they got one extra person, a 
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locksmith, and that's different.  

So, they can wait for a SWAT team, but they can't wait 

for additional patrol officers and a locksmith.  There's no 

distinguishing marks for that.  So, the defendant does not 

benefit from successfully keeping law enforcement at bay, that's 

an important thing to consider when we are looking at the need 

for swift action.  

The fact that they didn't make swift entry, even though 

there was a need for swift entry.  They didn't make swift entry 

because the defendant kept them at bay, that's not grounds to 

suppress.  

And when we get to his argument, specifically, today, 

the specific facts in every case, he says, they're not here.  

Well, they are.  There's a 911 call.  

There's the neighbors saying two people there had an 

argument.  

There's the scene that we saw, which was stuff thrown 

about, possibly the railing broke that night, and then the 

defendant saying, my roommate and I are good.  

Law enforcement knew there was a second person there.  

Based on the 911 call alone, they know there's a second person 

there.  Based on the neighbors alone, they know that and based on 

the defendant's statement alone, they know that.  The totality 

certainly says there's a second person there in need of help.  
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Mr. Martinez mentions Dixon.  Dixon is not applicable 

as mentioned in my brief.  They were there for a welfare check.  

Well, the welfare check is an emergency aid, is a form of a 

welfare check.  

Now, the defense starts complaining the reasonable 

basis, the objectively reasonable basis for law enforcement is 

not the reasonable person.  Those standards should not be 

confused.  A reasonable person is someone that doesn't have the 

experience, the training that law enforcement has.  And the duty 

to act that law enforcement has.  

A reasonable civilian out in the world has no duty to 

act.  

A law enforcement officer has a duty to act to ensure 

the safety of people.  And so we may say that a reasonable person 

didn't call 911.  Well, if we're in a tort and this is about 

negligence, then that's the standard.  But, that's not the 

standard for whether or not law enforcement had an objectively 

reasonable basis.  And so we know as far as that, there are 

gunshots that are fired that people don't call 911 on.  That's 

not what we evaluate the officer on. 

The defense said that my argument sums up to:  The end 

justifies the means.  Law enforcement found the evidence.  He was 

dead, therefore it must have been the case.  That's not my 

argument.  That's not what the Fourth Amendment says.  I never 
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make such argument, and I would take issue with that as to what 

the Fourth Amendment is.  

And, Judge, I think you correctly pointed out, a Motion 

to Dismiss is inappropriate.  I noted that in my motion.  A 

Motion to Dismiss is not the correct procedure.  I cited the 

correct procedure, that should be mentioned.  

It's up to me to decide whether or not, if the Court 

decides to suppress evidence, do I still have a case?  And that's 

the appropriate remedy.  

So, I think that Your Honor, when you look at this, the 

emergency exception is there a hundred times over.  If we look at 

Fisher, Fisher was a person who had a cut hand, and yes, defense 

correctly notes he was also throwing stuff.  That's fine.  The 

Supreme Court says, the cut hand, him throwing stuff, either one 

of those is a basis for the entry.  

So, if you take the cut hand or simply throwing stuff 

at a person, that the Supreme Court noted law enforcement never 

saw, they could have just supposed that a second person was 

there.  Look at, that a cut hand, and a person saying go away, 

then they make entry, and the person they are rendering aid to is 

the person telling them to go away asserting what he believes is 

his Fourth Amendment right.  And the Court says there's no Fourth 

Amendment violation here.  So, if there's no Fourth Amendment 

violation in Fisher, there's certainly no Fourth Amendment 
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violation here, where law enforcement had to enter to protect 

someone other than the person that was objecting.  The person 

that was objecting was the person that killed him.  

And, Your Honor, of course, I know you've read the 

motions, and I'm not going to reiterate all those points, point 

for point, but they are all there too.  And I think that Your 

Honor has read those and can rely on those.  

Thank you.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Mr. Martinez?  

MR. MARTINEZ:  Thank you, Judge.  Judge, I want to 

start with that Fisher case, because the state kind of blew right 

by the important parts of that case.  

When the police arrived, yes, they noticed a small cut 

on his hand.  The state says, sure, Fisher was simply throwing 

things around his house.  That's not what Fisher says.  

When the police arrived, Fisher was angry.  He was 

belligerent.  He was violently throwing things in and out of the 

house.  And that's what the state cited in that case was their 

reason for the emergency aid exception.  

They were concerned if there was someone else in the 

house, they could be harmed.  They were concerned that the 

projectiles could harm the police outside of the house; that's 

why that emergency aid exception kicked in.  Because they wanted 

to make sure nobody was hurt and they needed to stop the violent 
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belligerent behavior of Fisher.  

Those are not the facts here, Judge.  There's not 

anything of a minor injury that the Nye County Sheriffs deputies 

knew in this case.  

Again, the state's arguing a totality of the 

circumstances.  We don't know what the deputies knew in this case 

when they arrived, Judge.  The state's arguing on the 911 call, 

there were two callers.  No one said that they needed help.  We 

don't know that the sheriff's deputies knew that.  

The sheriff's deputies, from what we have on the 

record, didn't know there was another person inside that house 

until Mr. Torres poked his head out and said, we're fine, we're 

sleeping.  Go away.  

The state asked me to distinguish between a SWAT team 

and a locksmith.  No problem.  SWAT gets called when there's a 

barricade situation because there's somebody inside the house not 

coming out, and threatening people either inside or outside.  

We had that scenario here in Nye County fairly 

recently, where the person inside the house was shooting at the 

sheriff's office.  I believe they fired more than 240 shots at 

the sheriff's office in that case.  They needed to call for 

backup.  They needed a SWAT team.  They needed more guns so they 

could go in and put a stop to the situation.  That's the 

difference between a SWAT team and a locksmith, Judge.  
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This is not a situation where the sheriff's office 

showed up and said, wow, this person is barricading themselves, 

they're threatening themselves, they're threatening others.  We 

need backup to make sure nobody is harmed.  That's not what 

happened, Judge.  

They waited and waited.  And they waited because there 

was no emergency, because they had no information that there was 

an emergency.  They had no information that anybody was injured 

on the inside.  They had no information that they needed to 

immediately make entry into the house to render aid.  

Lastly, Judge, and this may not matter.  But I'm going 

to argue it.  The state, on the Dixon case that I cited to, as 

the state did note, they didn't really respond to that in their 

brief, because they said it's not citable under the Nevada Rules 

of Appellate Procedure.  We are not in appellate court, Judge.  

This is the trial court.  

My stance is, it's certainly still persuasive 

authority.  It's a decision in this state that's higher than this 

court that can make controlling authority over this court, and 

the Court can certainly take it into consideration.  It may not 

be controllable authority, but it's certainly persuasive.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Anybody else want to say anything on 

this issue?

MR. MARTINEZ:  No, Judge.
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THE COURT:  Okay.  I have a little bit to say.  

Obviously, as we all know, that the general rule is that a 

warrantless search is presumed unlawful.  And the government has 

the burden to establish that the warrantless search is 

constitutional, and does not violate the Fourth Amendment.  

That's just basic black letter law.  

Exigent circumstances really have the Court looking at 

two considerations:  

One, there must be probable cause for a search or 

seizure.  

And two, there must be an exigent circumstance.  

Probable cause is necessary, but it is not sufficient by itself.  

So, both things.  There must be probable cause and 

there must be an exigent circumstance.  

Really, the rationale behind an exigent circumstance is 

that there is exigency.  

"There must be a compelling need for police action.  

There is no time to obtain a warrant."  

That's the meaning of exigent circumstances.  And 

that's Michigan V Taylor, 436 U.S. 499, a 1978 U.S. Supreme Court 

decision.  

The emergency aid exception is a little different:  

"The emergency aid exception is one type of exigency 

that may make the need of law enforcement so compelling that the 
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warrantless search is objectively reasonable.  

"The emergency aid exception is the need to assist 

persons who are seriously injured, or threatened with such an 

injury.  Law enforcement may enter a home without a warrant to 

render emergency assistance to an injured occupant or to protect 

an occupant from imminent injury."  

That's the Brigham City case, U.S. Supreme Court 

decision.  

Now, here's the issue that this Court has.  And I have 

the exhibits along, because they were admitted into evidence and 

part of the preliminary hearing transcript.  And there is one 

thing.  One of these exhibits that I found extremely interesting.  

Let me see if I can find the number here.  It is 

Exhibit Number 4A.  What it is, it is the Nye County Sheriff's 

Office call detail record, and I looked at it, so based upon what 

I could see from the record, that the call came in through 911 at 

approximately 3:03.  I think is the first call.  3:03:27 and 

there's a 3:06:06.  And then Deputy Gilbert, if I remember the 

preliminary hearing than transcript correctly, he arrived on 

scene at 3:12.  

I think that's important to note.  And if you look at 

the log, there's a lot of communications back and forth between 

the dispatcher, who my understanding was Savannah Rucker.  Not 

Savannah.  It was Stephanie Rucker.  And there are communications 
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with Ms. Rucker.  

I don't see, Mr. Gilbert was 3:12 or Officer Gilbert 

3:14, 3:17, 3:17 and then there's a series, a number of 

communications that are logged by Stephanie Rucker, and then 

Mr. Gilbert's or Officer Gilbert's back paged call at 4:30, and 

then there's one en route to a call on 4:32 and then 4:33.  

The reason I bring this up, and nobody has touched on 

this.  But, is it possible that there was an exigent circumstance 

or a need to render emergency aid and it expired by lack of 

action?  

And I raise that because my understanding from reading 

the preliminary hearing transcript is that when the officers got 

there, there were a number of buildings, if you will.  This call, 

my understanding from looking at Stephanie Rucker's testimony, 

was that the Nye County Sheriff's Office uses a particular 

program, which at that time was relatively new.  

So, what happens is, it checks the coordinates, if you 

will.  That's of the, of where the call's coming from, so they 

get rough coordinates.  Sometimes they are better than others.  

So, they get the street address, but they get there and 

there's more than one location.  So, my understanding, I may be 

wrong, from reading the preliminary hearing transcript and 

looking at the documents, was that they stopped at, the first 

place that the Nye County Sheriff's deputy stopped was the 
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location, and they were told, no, this isn't the location.  It's 

this other trailer, two people live there.  

Okay?  So, I don't know what was communicated between 

Ms. Rucker, because the questioning doesn't give me that 

information.  

But, we do know what the 911 call was, and the 911 

call, if I recall correctly, was something like, help, help, 

help.  And then it's like, false call, or something like that.  

And the call goes dead, and then Ms. Rucker isn't able to reach 

somebody back on the phone, and that's when she called for 

deputies to go out.  

And so if the deputy stopped at the first trailer and 

was told two people live there, and then they get to that 

location and they can't arouse anybody, but they hear walking 

inside, why didn't they break the door down?  They were just told 

two people live there.  They have been told -- why would you call 

for a locksmith?  Why wouldn't you have broken the door down?  

You were just told at the first trailer, there are two 

people that live there.  You can't get anybody's attention.  You 

know there's been a 911 call that's been a hang-up, and that's 

why you have been dispatched there, wouldn't that be a basis at 

that point to just break the door down?  Why would you have, and 

I can't quite wrap my head around this.  

Why would you have waited almost a half an hour, then 
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you called your supervisor, then you called a locksmith, then you 

tried the door and the door was locked.  So, you waited for the 

locksmith.  

If this is an exigent circumstance or this is an 

emergency aid situation, wouldn't you have just broken down the 

door immediately when you got there, knowing that information?

So, the question I have in my own mind is maybe the Nye 

County Sheriff's Office got out there, and there were both 

emergency aid exceptions and exigency circumstances, but they 

didn't act on them.  They waited.  And at some point did they 

lose the emergency aid, and did they lose exigency exception?  

I think, when the call came in, they certainly had 

those things.  But, I'm not sure that that didn't get waived by 

the conduct of the deputies that were out there.  That I'm not 

sure about.  Nobody talked about that, nobody briefed that issue 

for me.  

But, I think it's an interesting one.  Was there an 

exigent circumstance, an emergency aid exception?  And maybe the 

truth is, that I don't know, because I really don't know too 

much, based upon the preliminary hearing transcript about what 

Ms. Rucker testified to.  

But, I do know this.  The deputy did say I stopped at 

the first trailer, and I think he was pretty early in the 

transcript.  Let me see if I can find it here.  
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I'm looking.  I'm trying to get past a bunch of 

testimony. 

MR. ALLMON:  Your Honor, do you want us to direct you 

to the --

THE COURT:  No, I am finding it.  Mr. Ledeaux testified 

next.  We have Ms. Rucker's testimony.  And she says, she talks 

about the 911 disconnect.  She says she tried to call back 

multiple times to get someone to answer, but, in this instance, 

no one answered the phone. 

Q. "Did you can call back? 

A. "Yes, sir.  

Q. "Nobody answered?

A. "No, sir.

Q. So, Are you the one that dispatched law enforcement to 

that --  

A. "I believe so.  

Q. "To that address.  

A. "The address that we got from the coordinates on the 

Rapid SOS program."  

Then the next person that testified was Xavier Gideon, 

and he was the deputy.  He says he responded at 3:01 hours, which 

is consistent, pretty consistent with the log.  

Q. "Do you recall what purpose you were dispatched to that 

location?  
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A. "It was a 911 cell disconnect.

Q. "What did you observe upon arrival?  

A. "I observed what appeared like, maybe like trailer 

like, two trailer like residences, and I remember seeing one of 

them in the back.  It was trashed.  That was about it. 

Q. "What did you do upon arrival?  

A. "I made contact with the male in the first residence.  

He told me something to the extent of, 'it's not me, it's the 

people behind me.'"  

He didn't say it's the person behind me, it's the 

people behind me.  "And that's when I went to make contact with 

the trailer behind the original residence that appeared trashed."  

So, what he was told was it's the people behind me.  To 

me, that would make me think that more than one person lived 

there.  And they had a 911 disconnect, so, and then if you go and 

you look at that:  

Q. "What did you do upon arrival?  

A. "I made contact with the male in the first residence," 

I just talked about that.  

Q. "Now, how did the defendant initially identify himself 

to law enforcement?  

A. "He identified himself as Bozo the Clown. 

Q. "At what point did that identification take place?  

A. "About maybe 45 minutes into attempting to make contact 
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at the front door is when the male opened a window and began 

speaking to law enforcement."  

And I actually should have noticed.  I tagged that 

page. 

Q. "Okay.  So when you're dispatched at 3:01, it takes 

about 45 minutes before any communication is had with the people 

inside the trailer?  

A. "Correct. 

Q. "Or anybody inside the trailer?  

A. "Correct. 

Q. "All right.  And his initial communication was when 

asked to identify himself, he identified himself as Bozo the 

Clown?  

A. "Yes."   

So, what that tells me is for the first 45 minutes that 

they were there, approximately 45 minutes, they were attempting 

to make contact.  

There was a 911 hang up.  

There with was a stop at the first trailer who said, 

it's not me it's the people who live behind me.  

45 minutes.  There was no attempt to break the door 

down.  There was no attempt to run in and administer any aid.  

So, the question I have is, at that point, did you lose 

the exigency?  Did you lose the emergency aid exception?  Because 
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you can have a situation, much like a traffic stop, if I were to 

draw an analogy to it, if you have a traffic stop for drugs, you 

have a short window.  

You can't, the Nevada Supreme Court says you can't hold 

a car that you have for no other reason than to wait for the car 

with the drug dog to get there, to run it around the vehicle.  If 

you have no other reason to hold it, you got to let it go.  And 

holding it an additional 20 minutes can be a violation of their 

Constitutional rights.  

So, I don't know, because nobody briefed that issue for 

me.  But, I saw the issue a little differently than maybe both 

sides did here on this.  Because I think that you might be able 

to argue that there were exigent circumstances, but did you lose 

them?  

And my question is, if you have time to call a 

supervisor, if you have time to call a locksmith, why can't you 

call a judge and get a warrant?

If we have time, and they waited.  They waited for the 

locksmith before they went into the property.  

So, I think those may be some issues here that are 

worthy of taking a look at.  I really do, as I look at that 

issue.  So, I honestly think it's a Motion to Suppress, not a 

Motion to Dismiss.  And I need to know specifically what evidence 

needs to be suppressed.  
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We've got a Motion to Continue the trial, but I think 

we need to take a good, hard look at this.  And that was never 

addressed by anybody, either side, in this case.  

To me that's the crux of the issue.  

Now, so knowing that, I'm going to require briefing on 

it.  But, that was what came to my mind when I read the briefing 

on it.  

Well, yes, there's an exigent circumstance, no, there 

isn't.  Was there an exigent circumstance, and if there was, did 

the state, did the Nye County Sheriff's Office lose that 

exigency?  

Could they have, when they first arrived, just broken 

the door down and run in?  But, did they lose that by their 

actions?  Was it reasonable to wait 45 minutes until you made 

contact with the party?  I don't know.  

What was the communication between the dispatcher and 

Nye County Sheriff's Deputy?  Don't know that either at this 

point.  

But, anyway, since we are continuing the trial, I think 

I'm going to just tell you that before I make a decision I want 

some briefing on that very issue.  And I do think it's more of a 

Motion to Suppress the evidence, and I need to know specifically 

what evidence needs to be suppressed, or alleged to be suppressed 

I should say, so I think we need that.  
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Now, I want to talk about the Writ of Habeas Corpus on 

a different issue.  There are two things, two of the charges.  

There's a number of, I think there are nine charges.  

I will say this, that we are all going to pick up on 

it.  There is a habitual enhancement.  Although, with the change 

in the law, that's going to affect that because, remember, it 

went from two prior felonies would be grounds for a small 

habitual, three for large habitual.  

Now I believe the statute is five and eight.  And that 

applies to any cases sentenced after July 1st of 2020.  

That may be, I don't know if that will affect the 

state's, how the state's going to charge this.  I don't know that 

much about the defendant's background, other than what I saw that 

was attached as exhibits to the preliminary hearing.  

However, there were two other issues involved, and one 

was the charge of, of whether or not you can be charged with 

Invasion of the Home.  And the state argued, well, under the old 

statute it could be Invasion of the Home, because that included a 

room, that, I assume this is your argument, reading between the 

lines.  The door was locked, the decedent was trying to keep the 

defendant out of the room.  

The pictures from the preliminary hearing make it clear 

that the defendant, or someone, broke the door down, clearly 

there's a huge crack in the middle of the door and the doorjamb 
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is all destroyed.  So, that's the basis for the state.  

Defense is arguing, well, the problem is that it's not 

just a room, Judge.  It has to be the home.  And even though the 

decedent's brother rented the house, both parties had access to 

all of the rooms in the house.  

I believe that's the argument and therefore, Judge, by 

its very nature we couldn't have an Invasion of the Home, am I 

right?  That's sort of the nutshell. 

MR. MARTINEZ:  Yes, Judge, I was framing it, can you 

commit a home invasion on an interior bedroom?  

THE COURT:  Right.  I'm curious.  The argument from the 

state is that under the old law, you could, you could have an 

invasion of a room, and that's essentially what they are arguing.  

The decedent went in, locked the door, obviously was 

trying to bar the defendant from coming in the room, and the door 

got broken down, and that's their basis.  

With looking at the old law and the new law, and the 

old law would be applicable at the time in question, do you still 

take that position?  Because you cite the new law. 

MR. MARTINEZ:  I did, Judge.  The difference, my 

understanding is, and when I read them, the difference between 

the new law and the old law is that the new law specifically adds 

the wording, of a separate occupied structure.  To kind of give 

it more, the assumption that the interior bedroom is not what 
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they were referring to.  

And my stance, my argument is still the same, even 

under the old law, that we are looking, unfortunately, like so 

many issues in Nevada, there's not a lot of case law.  There's 

almost no case law on this.  

They put the word, "room" in there not to refer to an 

interior bedroom, but to refer to a hotel room.  If I rent a 

hotel room, that becomes my residence for a temporary period of 

time.  And if somebody forcibly enters the hotel room, that's 

home invasion.  Same with a dorm room.  Same thing with a room in 

an assisted living facility.  

Those would be my arguments.  That's what I think the 

intent of the word "room" is in that statute.  Judge what's not 

in my brief, because it's not controlling law.  But, it did 

mention in Copper versus State 111 Nevada, 1409, in one of the 

footnotes they state that the Information initially charged the 

defendant there with the crime of forcible home invasion.  

"Any person, who, by day or night, forcibly enters an 

inhabited dwelling without the permission of the owner, resident, 

or lawful occupant, whether or not a person is present in need at 

the time of entry is guilty of Invasion of the Home."  

The state dismissed those charges prior to the 

commencement of trial, and it appears from the evidence that 

Alford entered the home peacefully and properly, with permission.  
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In that case, Alford was invited into his ex-wife's 

house, then entered her bedroom, where he found her in bed with 

another man.  His ex-wife testified the door came crashing down.  

She entered the bedroom, and that there was forcible entry.  

That was a situation with where it looks like he was 

initially charged with home invasion for an interior bedroom.  

The state dismissed the charge voluntarily, but the Court seemed 

to agree that was the right way to go. 

THE COURT:  Was that 114 Nevada, 149?  Did I get the 

number right on that?

MR. MARTINEZ:  111 Nevada, 1409, footnote number two.

THE COURT:  Mr. Allmon, what's your position with that?  

Here's a question.  Can you revoke your permission?  Can you, 

because essentially -- well, I, can you say, okay.  You can go -- 

I guess there's a number of issues with this.  It's my room, now 

get out.  I'm going to lock the door and barricade the door.  And 

if the door gets broken down, then there's no crime committed?  

Or at least not that crime committed of invasion of a room or 

Invasion of the Home?  

MR. ALLMON:  To me, Your Honor?

THE COURT:  To whoever can answer that question.  

Mr. Allmon, if you want, go ahead, I'm curious.

MR. ALLMON:  The state's position is, yes, that you can 

invoke consent to a room.  And so while it may be true that the 
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defendant had access to the room, that the two roommates, as two 

grown men living together, they could revoke access to each 

other.  And that is what happened.  I'm trying to find it exactly 

in my brief, where I mentioned that.  

Right here on page 13, the bottom paragraph of my 

response:  

"It is in dispute that defendant was a lawful occupant 

or resident of the home, and remained so until he was arrested.  

The defendant was no longer a lawful occupant or resident of 

Mr. Piper's room, because at the time of the offense the victim 

revoked consent to his room by locking the defendant out.  

"As such, nobody is disputing that the defendant could 

not be held to answer for the crime of invading the parts of the 

structure that excluded the victim's room.  

The defendant here is not being charged with forcibly 

entering his or her own home, or even forcibly entering his own 

room.  He is being charged with forcibly entering the room of 

another.  Inhabited dwelling of another.  

The defendant in Truesdale was no longer a lawful 

occupant or resident of his victim's home.  That victim revoked 

the defendant's access.  So, the defendant could be charged with 

invading that inhabited dwelling, which is what standard is.  

Similar to the defendant here, the defendant was no longer a 

lawful resident of Mr. Piper's room.  Mr. Piper revoked 
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Defendant's access.  The defendant can be charged with invading 

that inhabited dwelling, which is the standard for home invasion.  

Maybe we should just call it inhabited dwelling invasion and 

clear up the whole issue, but that is the standard.

MR. MARTINEZ:  Well, Judge I think the legislature 

attempted to clear up the issue by calling it inhabited dwelling 

invasion, by adding those words, "of a separate occupied 

structure."  

Now, I do think you can revoke consent to be in a 

house, Judge, in any way.  If I had somebody over to my house and 

we got into an argument, and I said, get out, don't ever come 

back, and I don't ever want to see you again, and they come and 

kick down my front door, they have committed a home invasion, 

even though they previously had consent to be inside my house.  

And that is not the issue I am arguing here, Judge, is whether or 

not that consent can be revoked because I believe legally it can.  

I am just focused on whether or not you can commit that 

home invasion on an interior bedroom of a house.  And legally I 

don't believe that you can.

THE COURT:  It's an interesting issue.  Anybody look at 

the legislative history of why it was changed in 2019?  Anybody 

pull the legislative history to see why -- sometimes there is no 

basis, they just do it.  Sometimes there is, you're looking at 

the committee, the testimony taken by the committees, they will 
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explain why they are changing.  

Did anybody look at that?

MR. MARTINEZ:  I did, Judge.  

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. MARTINEZ:  There is no basis that I found.  And 

that doesn't really surprise me.  When this law was changed, it 

was part of the massive bill that was passed, so it doesn't 

surprise me at all that, you know, the adding of some words on to 

this one statute wasn't specifically discussed in any of their 

hearings, or the reasons why they were changing it all in the 

grand totality of everything else that they were discussing with 

that bill.  

But, I did try to find it, and there was nothing there.

MR. ALLMON:  Your Honor, I would just point out that 

the legislative history of a separate legislature, which is what 

it is.  It is still Nevada legislature, but it still is a 

separate legislature.  

The legislative history post facto is, it should be the 

most minimal of influential pieces of evidence that there is in 

this.  It should not be considered, in my opinion.  It's a post 

facto law, essentially.  If we looked at that, I mean the whole 

system of charges that existed before July 1st, 2020 would be 

under attack.  

Trafficking laws changed.  There was an evaluation that 
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methamphetamine was being moved in larger amounts and being used 

in larger amounts, or that it was just too harsh in general.  And 

so the legislature changed the amounts to a hundred grams.  

That's not necessarily indicative of what the law was preceding 

that.

THE COURT:  Well, I understand that, but what it tells 

you is why did they change it?  Was there confusion, and that's 

why, was it clarifying, or was it just, and I think it is very 

useful, and the Nevada legislature, or the Nevada Supreme Court 

will tell you, when things are vague and ambiguous, the first 

place they go is to the legislative history.  So, it is 

absolutely critical and can play a very big, big role in that.  

Now, I just pulled this case up, it's Alford v. State, 

111 Nevada 1409 and you said it was what footnote?  

MR. MARTINEZ:  Footnote two, Judge.

MR. ALLMON:  I am unfamiliar with this, so I don't know 

what case we are talking about.

THE COURT:  This is footnote two:

"The Information initially charged Alford with the 

crime of forcible home invasion and then it's put in parentheses:  

"(Any person who) by day or night, forcibly enters an inhabited 

dwelling without permission of the owner, resident, or lawful 

occupant, whether or not a person is present at the time of 

entry, is guilty of Invasion of the Home."  NRS 205.067(1).  
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"The state dismissed these charges prior to the 

commencement of trial, and it appears from the evidence that 

Alford entered the home peacefully, and probably with 

permission."  

So, I'm not sure that the, this was a case, factually 

where he was convicted of First Degree Murder under the Felony 

Murder Rule, and he appealed.  

It was a First Degree Murder case where:  

"The defendant was convicted of First Degree Murder 

With Use of a Deadly Weapon.  The state charged Alford," who is 

the name of the party, "under an open charge of Murder, which is 

to say the state charged only that Alford killed with malice 

aforethought.  

"There was no specific charge of First Degree Murder, 

and there was no specific charge of Premeditation and 

Deliberation, and no charge that Alford was guilty of a homicide 

during the commission of a felony.  

"The homicide in this case could have fallen under the 

category First Degree Murder, premeditated and deliberated.  

Murder, Second Degree Murder or Voluntary Manslaughter."  

So, I'm not sure.  The events of the morning of the 

killing were as follows:

"Alford arrives at his former wife's trailer home early 

in the morning, and engaged in a conversation with two 

00720



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

 SUZANNE ROWE REPORTING (775) 782-5278

 

41

babysitters, who were in the living room.  He asked the 

babysitters if his wife was in the bedroom, and they told him 

that she was.  

"There was no evidence at that time he had illegally 

entered the premises or that he was a trespasser.  

"Upon being told where his wife was, Alford proceeded 

to the bedroom.  In the bedroom he found his former wife and the 

boyfriend in bed together.  

"There is conflicting evidence.  One of the witnesses 

stated that there was nothing unusual about Alford's entry into 

the bedroom.  However, his former wife testified that the door 

came crashing down, intimating that Alford had forced his way 

into the bedroom.  

"Whether Alford forced his way into the bedroom or not, 

there is no question that once in there, he stabbed the boyfriend 

to death."  

And then that cites to this footnote, and putting it in 

that context then the footnote is:  

"The Information originally charged Alford with the 

crime of Forcible Home Invasion.  The state dismissed these 

charges prior to the commencement of trial, and it appears from 

the evidence that Alford entered the home peacefully and probably 

with permission."  

So, I don't think it answers the question one way or 
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the other.

MR. MARTINEZ:  And Your Honor, just the way that I read 

that, was that the state dismissed it, the Court seemed to make a 

note of it as though they were agreeing that was the right thing 

to do, because they were discussing an interior bedroom.  

Again, I know that's not part of the holding of the 

case.

THE COURT:  Right. 

MR. MARTINEZ:  Again, that's my interpretation of it, 

and that's my argument.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, on the charge of Home Invasion 

I'm going to let it stand.  I may be wrong, but I do think that 

that's an appropriate charge.  

But, I do want to talk about the other charge.  The 

other charge is a gross misdemeanor, first and foremost.  We have 

nine charges.  We have a gross misdemeanor about the -- I call it 

the nunchaku.  

THE COURT REPORTER:  Judge, I'm sorry.  What was the 

word?

THE COURT:  It is, let me see.  N U N C H A K U.  

All right.  So, the issue on this one is kind of an 

interesting one.  

So, all of the charges, we have the charge of -- okay.  

Count I, we have First Degree Murder of Vulnerable Person, a 
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Category A felony.  

Count II, we have Open Murder, a Category A felony.  

Count III, we have Invasion of the Home, in parentheses 

(room), a Category B felony.  

Count IV, we have Battery by Strangulation, a Category 

C felony.  

Count V, we have Abuse of a Vulnerable Person, which is 

either a Category B felony or gross misdemeanor.  

Count VI, we have Interception, Interruption or Delay 

of Message Sent Over Telephone Lines, a gross misdemeanor.  

Count VII is Possession of Dangerous Weapon, a gross 

misdemeanor.  

And this N U N C H A K U is the dangerous weapon that 

we are concerned about.  

Now, they said, in this charge it says:  

"Defendant did willfully and unlawfully possess

N U N C H A K U with the intent to inflict harm upon the person 

of another, at unit four, by striking Jonathan A. Piper with the 

N U N C H A K U."  Now, whatever.  That is the basis for that 

charge.  

I went and I looked at everybody's testimony on that.  

What I know is that there were one of these things in the living 

room and two in the defendant's bedroom.  I know there's a mark, 

the pictures that were taken at the scene of the, at the trailer, 
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there's visible marks on the defendant's face and on the side of 

his head.  

I didn't hear one person testify that this was used on his face 

or head, and I didn't see it anywhere in the autopsy report of 

such a thing.  

So, my question is this:  You only need slight or 

marginal evidence.  And so I said to myself, what is slight or 

marginal evidence?  What is the legal definition of that?  

And I couldn't find one.  Here in Nevada it references 

slight or marginal evidence, and then just generally what I found 

was that it's meager evidence.  Not much evidence, if you will.  

Weak evidence.  

Can you point somewhere to me, Mr. Allmon, where 

there's weak evidence that the injuries on his face were caused 

by this?  Or that meets that element?  

I was looking, and I have marked several places in the 

transcript where we were kind of talking about it.  But, I was 

just trying to figure that out.

MR. ALLMON:  Yes, Your Honor.  I think that if the 

Court looks, it's the state's reference to probable cause and the 

standard that is slight, marginal, the slightest legal evidence.  

The courts are not to inquire of the sufficiency.  It's not a 

mini trial.

THE COURT:  I understand that.  But, there's a 
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difference between slight and no.  I'm trying to figure out where 

there's slight evidence presented.  So, I'm trying to figure out 

how you get from, there was one of these in the living room, to 

he had an intent. 

MR. ALLMON:  The reasonable inference is another 

standard, Your Honor.  And how you get to the intent is actual 

actions.  The slight or marginal evidence that we are looking at 

that the nunchaku was used, is kind of where we need to start 

with.  So, if we start with slight or marginal evidence that the 

nunchaku was used, that's there.

THE COURT:  Well, how do you know that it was used?  

The evidence is undisputed that there's a tussle that occurs 

between the two of them.  Things are thrown out.  Chairs are 

thrown out.  The railing is broken on the trailer.  

The pictures that are introduced into evidence show 

that there's something that went on.  There's stuff strewn all 

about on the floor.  

But, how do you get from, and clearly there's bruising 

on his face, but how do you get to the slight bit?  

Using that analogy, the chair outside, if you charged 

him with the same thing, but it was the chair outside, that 

should stick too, right?  Because it would be slight or marginal 

evidence of that.  Or the scissors that were on the floor.

MR. ALLMON:  If we are talking slight or marginal, then 
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yes, the state's theory that it presented, would be presenting 

slight or marginal evidence, anything that would create a linear 

mark would do that.  

And so, yes.  Any object, I think the low, low standard 

of a reasonable inference, if that's the case, any linear object 

could potentially have been the weapon.  

And here's where we get into whether or not that slight 

or marginal evidence, and defense's argument that it could have 

been any of the linear things.  

Yes.  That's a fair argument to make at trial.  And 

that's what trial is for.  Trial is the time to say, no, beyond a 

reasonable doubt they did not show that it was specifically a 

nunchaku, because we don't know that it's not the radiator, or 

the chair, or something else.  

When the state is putting on a preliminary hearing, it 

is not required to call all of the witnesses that it would call 

at a trial.  It's not a mini trial, that's not the purpose.  

So, while there may be evidence that the state is aware 

of outside of what we admitted at the preliminary hearing, we are 

not expected to bring all that in.  We are just supposed to bring 

the slight or marginal standard.

THE COURT:  What if one of your witnesses testified to 

just the opposite of that?  

MR. ALLMON:  The testified to the opposite?  
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THE COURT:  Right.  I want to read you some of the 

testimony that I read from one of the detectives.  Let me find 

who it is here.

MR. ALLMON:  I believe you are referencing Fancher.

THE COURT:  Let me see if I can find it.  It was one of 

the detectives. 

MR. ALLMON:  Detective Fancher.

THE COURT:  So, listen to this testimony.  

This is on page 159 of the preliminary hearing 

transcript.  

And I will start at line 18:  

Q. "So, if I understand your testimony earlier, you 

started talking about the scale and injuries.  Were you looking 

at the potential for the nunchaku to have been responsible for 

the injury observed?  

A. "Yes, sir. 

Q. "Okay.  And you took some measurements along those 

lines?  

A. "Yes, sir. 

Q. "And what were your findings?  

A. "The findings, I did measurements to the nunchaku, and 

also did some scale photographs of the injuries to the left side 

of the decedent's head, face, and I couldn't comment as far as if 

they were consistent with the nunchakus or -- "
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Q. "Okay.  All right.  So, 14 is contested.  Let's move on 

to 15."  

So, that was the detective who got the warrant, who 

took the pictures, and he says, I can't say that that was done 

like that.  So, how is that slight or marginal evidence that the 

injuries were caused that by that?  It seems to suggest to me 

that there's slight or marginal evidence that they weren't caused 

by that. 

MR. ALLMON:  Well, Detective Fancher is saying that he 

is not an expert, and not qualified to testify on that, is not 

necessarily saying that it's not the case.  

And so at trial will be the medical examiner that is 

willing to say that that is consistent with a nunchaku mark.

THE COURT:  Do you have that?  Do you have anything 

right now that you can pull out of your file and show me that the 

medical examiner said that's consistent?  

MR. ALLMON:  No, Your Honor.  It's based on an 

interview that I did with the medical examiner.  However, I 

recognize that's not in the record, so that's not necessarily for 

the Court to consider.  I bring it up to point out, to illustrate 

the point that the state doesn't present its whole case.  It's 

not a mini trial.

THE COURT:  Sure, I understand that.  But, just the 

opposite happened when the detective got questioned about it.  
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Nobody asked the detective on redirect, well, so you're not an 

expert in this, and couldn't it have been possible that that 

happened.  That never got asked.  All that got asked is what I 

read.  

And then I looked, I looked several times in the record 

to get the link for that charge.  But, you still have to present 

slight or marginal evidence.  And just saying that there's a 

picture of this in the living room and the person was attacked by 

this, without anything more than that, I think that -- and 

especially in light of the testimony of your own detective, I 

think suggests otherwise.  

But, I'm just, just, you know, like I said, when I 

read, I go back to the Information.  I'm trying to figure out 

what we're doing and why we're doing it, because that's one I 

wrestled with, I'll be honest with you on that. 

MR. ALLMON:  Do you want to hear from me, Your Honor?  

THE COURT:  I do.  I'm just telling you, maybe you can 

direct me someplace else in the record that would convince me 

that slight or marginal evidence was presented at the preliminary 

hearing.

MR. ALLMON:  I think what you have is circumstantial 

evidence of that, and that's important.  Circumstantial evidence 

doesn't need to be tied up into a nice little bow by the 

testifying witness.  That's what closing arguments are for.  
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That's the time to tie up the circumstantial evidence into a 

little bow.  And circumstantial evidence is sufficient for 

conviction beyond a reasonable doubt.  It's also sufficient for 

probable cause, by the common sense understanding of probable 

cause being a lower standard.  

Another important thing to consider in a preliminary 

hearing is defenses are not to be considered.  A preliminary 

hearing isn't necessarily a chance to, you know, the state puts 

up its case, and the defense keeps trying to knock it back down.  

The state, if it presents a sufficient standard, that's 

what we are looking for.  We are looking for a hurdle to get 

over.  And I think the detective being unwilling to say what that 

is specifically, again, those are times for trial.  

They are not time for sufficiency of the evidence, and 

what you do have is the picture, the fact that the nunchaku is 

separate.  That indicates it was taken from the room at some 

point, and that shows based on recency of the closeness of the 

nunchaku to the scuffle.  It's more substantial evidence that 

nunchaku was used that night specifically.  

So, those are the two that you have.  The location, the 

timing of it, and the linear mark for probable cause.

THE COURT:  Do you think you would have better slight 

or marginal evidence if that had not been found in the living 

room, but had been found in the decedent's bedroom?
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MR. ALLMON:  Always.  I mean, I would have better 

evidence too, if it was on video.  I could wish for facts as they 

aren't, but that's not what I have.

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  I was just curious.  

Defense, do you have anything you want to say about that?  

MR. MARTINEZ:  Judge, there's no circumstantial 

evidence.  There's no the direct evidence.  There's no evidence 

at all that the nunchakus were used at all.  It's as simple as 

that.  

I don't know why the state picked a gross misdemeanor 

charge, to throw spaghetti at the wall and hope something sticks.  

But, that's what they did, as the court alluded to, as I argued, 

based on their argument here, Judge, the state thinks they could 

have picked out any object from the living room, charge 

Possession of a Deadly Weapon, and say we're good to go.  Let's 

let the jury decide that's what he used.  

There's also testimony in there that the decedent fell 

on the way to the room.  That's how the bruise could have 

occurred.  

There was testimony at the preliminary hearing from Mr. 

Torres's interview with Detective Fancher, that those bruises 

came from the way that he constantly fell asleep on his hand on 

the couch.  That's testimony that we have.  

But, apparently that's a portion of the interview that 
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we are not supposed to believe Mr. Torres, what we are supposed 

to believe is all his other portions of the interview.  

I know that's a low threshold that the state has to 

meet, Judge.  But, simply saying someone has a bruise, we found 

an object in the house, doesn't meet that burden.  

It's not circumstantial evidence of anything.  It's not 

as though, like Your Honor said, they found nunchakus in the 

bedroom with the decedent.  

They didn't find any blood on the nunchakus to suggest 

that he was hit with them.  They weren't able to get an accurate 

measurement of everything.  

To say, well, the measurement from these nunchakus 

match the measurements of the linear mark on the decedent's face.  

There wasn't any DNA swabs done on the nunchakus.  There was none 

of that done.  It simply being present in place is not sufficient 

and it's as simple as that, Judge.

THE COURT:  Anything further?

MR. ALLMON:  No, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  I'm going to find that there is not slight 

or marginal evidence.  I am going to dismiss that charge.  I 

agree with the defense on that.  

Okay.  So, I didn't see the Motion to Continue the 

trial but you can tell me about it.  Why do we need to continue 

the trial in this case?  
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And, state, are you --

MR. ALLMON:  I will let the defense make its motion, 

and then I have some things for the record, Your Honor. 

MR. MARTINEZ:  Judge, my forensic pathologist, this 

would be my second Motion to Continue.  Shortly after my first 

one, the previous calendar call we had was on December 4th.  I 

believe December 3rd is when we were in front of Your Honor.  

About a week and half later, I followed up with my forensic 

pathologist to find out when his initial opinion would be 

available.  

And his assistant got back to me that there was a 

medical emergency and he was out of the office, and would not be 

back until the middle of January.  I did follow up again.  He is 

back in the office, he is working.  I expect that initial 

opinion.  They told me it would be ready by the beginning of 

February.  

If that opinion comes back and there's no additional 

work to be done, then sure, I would be ready for the trial in 

March.  But, if that opinion comes back and there is additional 

work to be done, like I kind of suspect, there will be additional 

work to be done, then I will not be ready.  

Additionally, Your Honor, a different expert that I 

have that is doing the psych workup of Mr. Torres, has done his 

interviews, and is working on his report.  Based on that report, 
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I am planning on filing a motion to suppress the statements, that 

he didn't knowingly and voluntarily and intelligently waive 

Miranda.  So, they should be suppressed.  It will also be 

attached it as an exhibit, but I do not have it yet.  

And I know we are running up close to the calendar call 

date in this case.  I am working diligently, but, unfortunately, 

the wheels of justice turn slowly sometimes.

THE COURT:  And I realize that with COVID it doesn't 

help either.  We are just going to have to be honest about it.  

We do the best we can.  

What's your position Mr. Allmon?  

MR. ALLMON:  Your Honor, the state wants to make sure 

that under NRS 174.511, the state is not waiving its right to a 

speedy trial.  The state has not done so in this matter.  The 

state does have a right to a speedy trial, and that should be 

considered too.

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. ALLMON:  I'm not done.  I have a couple more 

things.

THE COURT:  Sure.

MR. ALLMON:  And it's important to remember that the 

reason the state has a right to a speedy trial is it's actually 

in the defense's benefit to delay trials generally.  Witnesses 

fade away.  It makes it harder for the State to charge a case and 
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successfully prosecute it.  

However, with noting that, and the circumstances as 

they are presented, the state also recognizes that under NRS 

174.511(1), the defendant is allowed time to prepare a defense, 

and the state has no basis to say that that's not what he's 

doing.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Mr. Martinez?

MR. MARTINEZ:  Judge, I just want to point out I'm not 

sure if the state is formally opposing my motion, or just making 

a record.

MR. ALLMON:  Not formally opposing; just not waiving 

our right to a speedy trial. 

MR. MARTINEZ:  Understood.  Judge, obviously this is 

not for purpose of delay.  I am not trying to intentionally delay 

anything.  

Second of all, this is a murder case.  There are 

multiple Category A felonies that Mr. Torres is charged with.  

Your Honor has been on the bench, and practicing in the 

legal field for a long time.  I just went over about a decade 

myself.  I know Mr. Allmon has less, but I'm sure he knows this 

as well.  

In cases this serious, it is very common that it takes 

them a while to get to trial.  We are less than a year still 

removed from when the incident occurred and when Mr. Torres was 
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arrested.  So, I think we are still doing pretty well time-wise, 

Judge.  That's it.

THE COURT:  Obviously I don't like having repeat 

trials.  I have done that once so far, and that's because I got a 

hung jury.  

But, Mr. Torres is entitled to present his case.  And 

I'm going to tell you, I still think there's an interesting issue 

hanging out, and that is on the suppression.  I think those need 

to be fully briefed.  I don't know the answer.  I just raised 

them.  I never thought I would use this, but in 2014 I went to a 

class at the Judicial College on the Fourth Amendment 

comprehensive search and seizure for trial judges.  So, when I 

saw this Fourth Amendment issue, I thought, I better go back, the 

course was pretty intense.  But, the author of the book on the 

Fourth Amendment himself was one of the instructors.  

So, I went back and looked at all of that in getting 

prepared for today.  I wanted to kind of brush up.  I even made a 

comment to my staff, I wish, it's been seven years now.  I need 

to go back, because the law changes so much in these areas.  

But, I think that, and I can appreciate the state's 

position, and I don't want to continue this out for a year or 

anything like that.  I'm just asking, you know, the defendant 

does have the opportunity to present the argument with regard to 

his Miranda, et cetera.  And to prepare for trial.  
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So, my questions for the state or the defense is how 

much time do you think you're going need?  

MR. MARTINEZ:  Your Honor, I'm also thinking about -- I 

am less concerned about that I can continue other cases that I 

have set for trial.

THE COURT:  Sure. 

MR. MARTINEZ:  All those other ones, to be honest, 

Judge, are set by defendants that are out of custody, and they 

have waived speedy as well.  So, this case would take priority 

over any of those.

Judge, does the Court have trial dates in early July?  

THE COURT:  Let me ask Ms. Clifford.  I think she's on.  

THE CLERK:  So far she said May or June.

THE COURT:  I think the longer that we are out, I'm 

going to be honest with you.  The longer, if we can get to the 

summer months, I think more people will get vaccinated, and it 

will probably be easier to get a jury.  I'm kind of worried.  You 

guys got a jury, but that was before we got kind of a bigger wave 

of COVID again. 

MR. MARTINEZ:  I was conferring with the state in the 

same way, that I'm worried about my trial schedule I know 

Mr. Allmon and Mr. Vitto are as well.

THE COURT:  And they are down an attorney now too.  I 

had trials scheduled with Don.  
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So, I mean not only is it horrific, but then what 

happened to Don, but then, you know, somebody has to get up to 

speed.  You can't just pick up a file and be ready tomorrow.

THE CLERK:  The last two weeks of July.

THE COURT:  The last two weeks of July.  I will say 

this.  My family has a beach party the last weekend of July.  And 

my family members are 89 years old.  So, that's the only, I'm 

going that Friday.  We can go, and I'll fly out on Thursday, but 

I'm taking that Friday, Saturday, Sunday.

MR. MARTINEZ:  Judge, I believe the last two weeks in 

July that the state was not available.  So, what were the dates 

that the Court had in May?  

THE COURT:  Well, tell Gerie that -- no, it got moved.  

I was going the say, the National Association of Drug Court 

Professionals is so worried that we are not going to be able go 

to Washington D. C. in May.  That we were set to go for the 

conference in May and they moved it to August.  So, they are 

obviously worried too.  Maybe now we will have some insurrection.  

I don't know.

THE CLERK:  Your Honor, May 10th through the 14th and 

17th through the 21st.

THE COURT:  May 10th through the 14 and 17th through 

the 21st.  Does that work for everybody or is that a problem?  

I'll work with you guys as best I can. 
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MR. ALLMON:  None at all for me, Judge.  So, the 10th 

through the 21 essentially?  

THE COURT:  Okay.  In the mean time, today I haven't 

really ruled, I haven't granted your Motion to Dismiss.  Like I 

said, I think it's a Motion to Suppress, and maybe bringing that 

at time of your other suppression motion.

MR. MARTINEZ:  Judge, what I was going to suggest since 

we had a couple weeks blocked out in March already, is maybe we 

go to that week of March 22nd through the 26th and we can pick a 

date like we have for this one, you know, I'm hoping that I can 

have that, my motion to suppress filed by the beginning of 

February.  

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. MARTINEZ:  Within the next couple of weeks and if I 

am able to do that the state can respond and hopefully we can 

argue everything on the same day if we can pick one of those 

dates. 

MR. ALLMON:  Do you think you will have your motion 

filed?  

MR. MARTINEZ:  I hope to within a couple of weeks. 

MR. ALLMON:  That is how you want to do it, Your Honor, 

is the defense files one, and then I file a response?  

THE COURT:  It would be, once again, I'm not granting 

his Motion to Dismiss.  So, he would be taking the lead if he's 
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going to file anything else to suppress. 

MR. MARTINEZ:  Judge, I will be filing a supplemental 

brief, briefing the issue, as well as being specific about what 

I'm asking the Court regarding issues of arrest. 

THE COURT:  Let me see.  I'm trying to look, but I 

can't quite tell.  The trial maybe toward the end of March, that 

would give everybody a -- yes.

THE CLERK:  March 18 or 25th.

THE COURT:  How about the 25th?  That would give you 

guys some more time to argue any motions.  Do you want to do 1:30 

again?  

MR. MARTINEZ:  Please, Judge.

THE COURT:  That's great.  Some weeks I have more prep 

work than others, and I will tell you, I got up at 4:30.  I was 

just beat from work yesterday when I got home.  And I still had 

four hours of reading before I went to bed.  So I got up to read 

the preliminary hearing transcript again and think about the 

issues.  So, that's great.  1:30 will be fine on the 25th, March 

25th.

MR. ALLMON:  Okay.  1:30.

MR. MARTINEZ:  Can we have a date for the calendar 

call, Judge?  

THE CLERK:  That would be April 2nd. 

THE COURT:  One thing I do like to do is before a 
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trial, we've got motions.  Stuff comes up at the trial, 

obviously, that you have to rule on.  

But, to the extent you don't have to spend time 

prepping for something that gets dismissed, it makes it easier 

for everybody, including the Court.  

All right.  Anything else we need to talk about?

MR. ALLMON:  No, Judge.

THE COURT:  Thank you.

THE DEFENDANT:  Your Honor?

THE COURT:  Yes, Mr. Torres?

MR. MARTINEZ:  I had a question for Mr. Martinez to 

consult for a moment.  Do I still have that chance?  

THE COURT:  You do.  If there's nothing else, I'm going 

to have my court reporter log off, I'm going to leave the 

courtroom.  Give us a minute to shut the recording system off.  

We'll leave, and you can have a private conversation with your 

attorneys.  How's that?  

THE DEFENDANT:  Thank you.  That would be great.

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Everyone, thank you.  

Very, very good briefs.  Mr. Allmon, I thought your briefs were 

very good.  

I thought your briefs were very good.  I appreciate it.  

Good briefs are fun.  When they're terrible, they give me 

terrible gray hair.  So, you guys did a good job on this.
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MR. MARTINEZ:  Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you, Juanita.  I'm going 

to give you the file back. 

(Whereupon proceedings concluded at 3:54 p.m.) 
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STATE OF NEVADA     ) 
                    ) Ss.  
COUNTY OF DOUGLAS   ) 

I, SUZANNE KUES ROWE, Certified Court Reporter, 

licensed in the State of Nevada, License #127, and a Notary 

Public in and for the State of Nevada, County of Douglas, do 

hereby certify that the foregoing proceeding was reported by me 

and was thereafter transcribed under my direction into 

typewriting; that the foregoing is a full, complete and true 

record of said proceedings.  

I further certify that I am not of counsel or attorney 

for either or any of the parties in the foregoing proceeding and 

caption named, or in any way interested in the outcome of the 

cause named in said caption.

Date:  March 15, 2021

 

                            ___________________________ 
                            

 SUZANNE KUES ROWE, CCR #127 
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